THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No: 2019-001100  
Case No. 2015-CP-10-0020

---

**RECEIVED**  
MAR 20 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

Steven M. Bernard and Deborah J. Bernard, on Behalf of Themselves and all others Similarly  
Situating, .....Appellants,

v.

3 Chisolm Street Homeowners Association, Inc., .....Respondent.

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. The trial court committed reversible error by finding that the January 30, 2008 Foltz Martin letter, triggered the applicable statute of limitations since Respondent failed to show the absence of a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the letter put Appellant on notice of an actionable claim against Respondent.
- II. The trial court committed reversible error by finding that Judge Young’s June 9, 2011, Order dismissing Respondent’s Water Intrusion Lawsuit based upon the statute of limitations triggered the applicable statute of limitations in this case since the time was tolled until the March 26, 2014, Court of Appeals Order affirming Judge Young’s dismissal.
- III. The trial court committed reversible error by finding Appellant reasonably should have known that they would have to pay the expense to repair or remediate the damages identified and claimed in both the Water Intrusion Lawsuit and the Foundation Defect Lawsuit when the Respondent was repeatedly representing to Appellant that Respondent was actively engaged in seeking to compel others to pay that expense.

- IV. The trial court committed reversible error by finding Appellant had a justiciable controversy prior to January 21, 2015.
- V. The trial court committed reversible error by analyzing Defendant's statute of limitations defense under SC Code § 15-3-530(5)<sup>1</sup> since that statute was not properly before the Court pursuant to R. 7(b)(1) SCRCP.
- VI. The trial court committed reversible error by dismissing Appellant's case based upon the statute of limitations provided in SC Code § 33-31-830(f)
  - a. (a) The trial court committed reversible error by interpreting SC Code § 33-31-830(f) to apply to a non-profit corporate entity despite its clear and unambiguous meaning.
  - b. The trial court compounded the error by relying upon an unpublished opinion with no precedential value that does not address subpart (f) to expand the scope of SC Code § 33-31-830(f) beyond its clear and unambiguous meaning.

### FACTS

Appellant is Steven M. Bernard and Deborah J. Bernard, on Behalf of Themselves and All Others Similarly Situated (hereinafter "Appellant"). Respondent is 3 Chisolm Street Homeowner's Association, Inc. (hereinafter "Respondent"). Appellant is a class of condominium owners that have been exposed to damages resulting from the breach of duty/negligence/gross negligence by the Respondent, the Homeowner's Association for the condominium complex when Respondent failed to file suit against the negligent renovators of the condominium buildings within the applicable statute of limitations (3 Chisolm Street Homeowners Association v. Chisolm Street Partners, LLC, Unpublished Opinion No.: 2014-UP-128 (Ct.App.2014)(**R. p. 303**)). Respondent is a non-profit corporate entity. 3 Chisolm Street is a collection of condominium units subject to the South Carolina Horizontal Property Act. The buildings used are the same buildings in place

---

<sup>1</sup> In the trial court's December 7, 2018 Order, there is an apparent typographical error identifying the three-year statute of limitations as SC Code § "15-3-505". There is no SC Code § 15-3-505 and Appellant believes that the trial court intended SC Code § 15-3-530(5) as he referenced that statute in his denial of Appellant's Motion to reconsider.

when the property was used as the Andrew B. Murray Vocational School. The school buildings were renovated into the condominiums in 2002.

In 2003, in response to water intrusion issues, Respondent hired architect Myles Glick to investigate the condominium buildings. On April 8, 2003, Myles Glick issued his report (hereinafter “the Glick Report”) (Exhibit A to Plaintiff’s Return to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment) (**R. p. 165**) to the non-profit corporation Respondent. In his report, Glick stated, among other things, that there are numerous construction issues and that Respondent should perform “a program of destructive testing” and “seek legal counsel relative to the impacts of the above issues as well” (id.) (**R. p. 168**). At a May 6, 2003 Board of Directors Meeting, Respondent resolved to follow the recommendations made in the Glick report (Exhibit B to Plaintiff’s Return to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment) (**R. p. 170**).

On January 16, 2009, Respondent filed an action alleging construction defects against the contractors and sub-contractors that performed the 2002 renovation of the condominiums. The appealed from Order in this action identifies the 2009 action as the “Water Intrusion Lawsuit” and Appellant adopts that identification for the purpose of this Appellant Brief. In 2011, the Honorable Roger M. Young dismissed Defendant’s 2009 Water Intrusion Lawsuit as time barred due to the 2003 Glick report having triggered the statute of limitations (Exhibit F to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment) (**R. p. 126**). Respondent appealed the dismissal of the Water Intrusion Lawsuit and the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s dismissal on March 26, 2014.

At a November 6, 2014 meeting of the owners of the condominium units, Respondent for the first time informed Appellant that there was a need to repair the crawlspace of the main condominium building at an estimated cost of \$2.5 million (Exhibit E to Plaintiff’s Return to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment) (**R. p. 201**). On January 21, 2015, Respondent held

a special meeting to address the needed repair to the crawlspace of the main building (id.). At this January 21, 2015 meeting, Respondent, for the first time, notified Appellant that Appellant would be required to fund the needed repair to the crawlspace of the main building through a special assessment of \$82,000.00 levied by the Respondent upon each of the individual condominium units (id.). Section 12(a) of Respondent's Master Deed (Exhibit F, p.2 to Plaintiff's Return to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment) (**R. p. 207**) provides that such an assessment creates a lien on each unit owner's property and is personal obligation of each unit owner. The special assessment was required to be paid by June of 2015 and all Appellant class members paid their individual share of the special assessment (Affidavit of Steven Bernard) (**R. p. 214**).

Appellant filed their initial Summons and Complaint in January of 2015 asserting Breach of Duty/Negligence/ and Gross Negligence due to Respondent failing to file the Water Intrusion Lawsuit within the applicable statute of limitations and the resulting damages to Appellant from having to bear the costs of making the necessary repairs to the condominium foundations.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal from the Order of the Honorable Edward W. Miller issued on December 7, 2018 , granting Respondent's R. 56 SCRCP Motion for Summary Judgment based upon the statute of limitations barring Appellant's claims under both SC Code §§ 15-3-530(5) and 33-31-830(f).

The trial court found that the January 30, 2008, Foltz Martin letter (Exhibit C to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment) (**R. pp. 112-115**) sent by adverse counsel addressed to attorneys for the non-profit corporate entity Respondent placed Appellant on notice of the claims against Respondent despite Respondent failing to demonstrate the absence of any genuine issue of material fact as to whether this letter placed Appellant on notice. This

letter was from prior litigation that did not include Appellant as a party. Respondent never authenticated this letter nor introduced any evidence to demonstrate that this letter was ever sent by its drafters received by Respondent's legal counsel or respondent, or disseminated to any members of the Appellant class. The trial court issued no findings as to when or how any members of the Appellant class were given notice of the existence of the January 30, 2008, Foltz, Martin letter and made no analysis as to why this letter placed any members of the class on notice of a potential claim against Respondent.

The trial court also found that Judge Young's June 9, 2011 Order dismissing Respondent's Water Intrusion Lawsuit (Exhibit F to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment) (**R. p. 126**) placed Appellant on notice of a negligence claim against Respondent, despite the fact that the Order, and the issue of whether Respondent was barred by the statute of limitations, which is the only negligent act claimed by Appellant in this action, was timely appealed and remained on appeal until March 26, 2014.

Appellant filed their original Summons and Complaint on January 2, 2015 alleging negligence on behalf of the Respondent for failing to bring the Water Intrusion Lawsuit within the applicable statute of limitations. On March 5, 2015, Respondent filed Defendant's Motion to Dismiss (Defendant's Motion to Dismiss) (**R. p. 37**) based upon, among other things, there being no justiciable controversy at the time of Appellant's filing due to Appellant's damages being unascertainable at the time of filing. Appellant filed an Amended Summons and Complaint on April 13, 2015 still alleging negligence on behalf of the Respondent for failing to bring the Water Intrusion Lawsuit within the applicable statute of limitations. An Order by Consent to Certify the Class of Plaintiffs was filed on August 7, 2017, defining the class of Plaintiffs as:

“All persons who were owners of condominium units at 3 Chisolm Street between the time of January 1, 2015 and the present including those that were subject to the 2015 lump sum payment to make necessary repairs and those subject to the increased regime fees to make necessary repairs”.

On May 30, 2018, Respondent filed Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment asserting a statute of limitations defense solely under SC Code § 33-31-830(f). On October 16, 2018, Appellant filed Plaintiff’s Return to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment arguing that § 33-31-830(f) is inapplicable to this action as the only named Defendant is the nonprofit corporate entity and the clear and unambiguous reading of the statute only applies to the individual directors of the non-profit corporation. Respondent filed a Reply to Plaintiff’s Return to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment on October 19, 2018 and the motion was heard before The Honorable Edward W. Miller on October 22, 2018.

On December 7, 2018, the trial court’s Order granting Respondent’s motion for summary judgment was filed. In his Order, The Honorable Edward W. Miller found that Appellant was placed on notice of a negligence claim against Respondent based upon either, the January 30, 2008, Foltz Martin letter (Exhibit C to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment) (**R. pp. 112-115**) addressed from a third party not to any member of the Appellant class but to legal counsel for the Respondent (Order, p. 9) (**R. p. 13**), or when Judge Young’s June 9, 2011 Order dismissed Respondent’s Water Intrusion Lawsuit (Exhibit F to Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment) (**R. p. 126**) placed Appellant on notice of a negligence claim against Respondent despite that Order being timely appealed by Respondent (Order, p. 9) (**R. p. 13**). The trial court further found that it was reasonable for the Appellant to speculate that seven years after the 2008 letter that Appellant’s had no knowledge of and four years after Judge Young’s 2011 Order that was appealed, the Respondent would levy a special assessment upon Appellant to pay for the repairs that are the

Respondent's responsibility; therefore, the Appellant suffered at least nominal damages either in 2008 or in 2011 (Order, p. 10) (**R. p. 14**). At the hearing, the trial court acknowledged that in accordance with R. 220 SCACR, unpublished opinions have no precedential value (Tr. p. 24, 4-10) (**R. p. 276, line 4-10**), but he found that the unpublished opinion of Smith v. Dockside Ass'n, Inc., No. 2005-UP-139 (Ct.App.2005) (**R. p. 148**) expanded SC Code § 33-31-830(f) beyond its clear and unambiguous meaning of only applying to the individual directors of the non-profit corporation (Order, p 10) (**R. p. 14**). The trial court found, despite the Summons and Complaint only naming the individual non-profit corporation as the sole Defendant, there being no attempts by Appellant to amend the Summons and Complaint to add any individual directors as named Defendants—and the Respondent the being the only Defendant served in the action—that Steven Bernard's deposition testimony expanded the named Defendants to this action to include the individual directors. The court made this expansion even though no rule in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure exists to provide for such an amendment by depositional testimony (Order, p. 10) (**R. p. 14**). Despite Respondent not seeking relief under SC Code § 15-3-530(5), the trial court further found that the statute of limitations barred Appellant's claim (Order, p. 10) (**R. p. 14**).

On December 17, 2018, Appellant filed Plaintiffs' SCRCR R.59(e) Notice of Motion and Motion to Alter or Amend the December 7, 2018 Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment (hereinafter "Motion to Reconsider") (**R. p. 225**). In the Motion to Reconsider, Appellant argued that Respondent's sole prayer for relief in their motion was for dismissal based upon the statute of limitations as provided by SC Code § 33-31-830(f) and therefore the Court should not have dismissed Appellant's claims based upon § 15-3-530(5); Despite Judge Young's June 9, 2011 Order putting Appellant on notice that Respondent missed

the applicable statute of limitations, R. 241(a) SCACR tolled the statute of limitations until the Court of Appeals affirmed the Order on March 26, 2014 as the only issue on appeal in that action was whether Respondent missed the statute of limitations and the claimed negligent act in this action is whether Respondent missed the statute of limitations; a letter purported to have been sent to Respondent did not put Appellant on notice of any claim they might have against Respondent; and that SC Code § 33-31-830(f) is inapplicable to this case as that statute only applies to the individual directors of a non-profit corporate entity and the only named Defendant is the non-profit corporate entity itself.

On June 21, 2019, the trial court filed his Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend Order. The trial court found that Appellant's October 16, 2018 filing of their opposition memorandum amended Respondent's motion and added SC Code § 15-3-530(5) as further grounds for which Respondent was seeking relief and therefore there was no prejudice to the Appellant when the Court granted Respondent's motion to dismiss based upon grounds not presented by Respondent, despite Appellant having no notice that the court would consider that statute as a ground for granting Respondent's motion. Further, the trial court reiterated that SC Code § 33-31-830(f) applies to the non-profit corporate entity and therefore bars Appellant's claims.

The notice of appeal was served on July 2, 2019. The amount involved on appeal is the two-million-five-hundred-five-thousand-three-hundred-thirty-two dollars (\$2,505,332.00) Respondent levied upon Appellant for all foundation repairs together with the applicable pre-judgment interest in excess of six-hundred-fifty-thousand dollars (\$650,000.00).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In reviewing the grant of summary judgment, this Court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56 SCRCP: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law” Sloan v. Friends of the Hunley, Inc., 630 S.E.2d 474, 477 (S.C.2006). “Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this Court reviews questions of law de novo” Town of Summerville v. City of North Charleston, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (S.C. 2008).

An Order granting summary judgment “...shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law” R. 56(c) SCRCP. “Summary judgment is appropriate when it is clear there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The party seeking summary judgment has the initial responsibility of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact” Richardson v. The State-Record Company, Inc., 499 S.E.2d (Ct.App.1998), *citing to* Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317 (1986). “In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party” Summer v. Carpenter, 492 S.E.2d 55, 58 (1997). “Under the summary judgment standard, the Court gives every benefit of the doubt to the non-moving party” Watters v. Terminix Service, Inc., 658 S.E.2d 110, 111 (Ct.App. 2008). “In a negligence case, where the burden of proof is a preponderance of the evidence standard, the non-moving party must only submit a mere scintilla of evidence to withstand a motion for summary judgment” Fisher v. Shipyard Vill. Council of Co-Owners, Inc., 760 S.E.2d 121, 128 (Ct.App. 2014). “Summary judgment should not be granted even when there

is no dispute as to evidentiary facts if there is dispute as to the conclusion to be drawn from those facts” Lyons v. Fid. Nat. Title Ins. Co., 781 S.E.2d 126, 130-31 (Ct.App.2015).

- I. **The trial court committed reversible error by finding that the January 30, 2008, Foltz Martin letter triggered the applicable statute of limitations since Respondent failed to show the absence of a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the letter put Appellant on notice of an actionable claim against Respondent.**

The trial court erroneously found that “...the statute of limitations on Plaintiffs’ case against the HOA for failing to timely file the Foundation Defects Lawsuit began to run with the Plaintiffs’ class members’ receipt of the January 2008 letter informing them that the HOA missed the statute of limitations...” (Order, p. 9) (R. p. 13) “The party seeking summary judgment has the initial responsibility of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” Richardson v. The State-Record Company, Inc., 499 S.E.2d, *citing to Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317 (1986). Respondent failed to meet their burden of proof by offering no evidence: 1) that the letter was sufficient to place Appellate on notice of a claim against respondent, 2) that the letter was actually delivered to or seen by any member of the Appellate class in any capacity in order to provide notice, or that 3) the letter was actually delivered to or seen by every member of the class in order to dismiss the action *in toto*.<sup>2</sup>

The trial court erroneously found that the January 2008 Foltz Martin triggered the statute of limitations under both SC Code §§ 33-31-830(f) and 15-3-530(5). The scriveners of that letter, Hudson & Spivey, were representing the soon to be Defendant contractors and/or developers and were in an adversarial relationship with the Appellant HOA. The letter was addressed to Nexsen Pruettt who was serving as Respondent’s legal counsel for negotiating a pre-suit settlement with

---

<sup>2</sup> R.23(a) SCRCP provides the prerequisites of a class and provides that a class is a collection of individuals rather than a single entity (“One or more members of a class...”).

the renovators of the condominium buildings. In any event, Respondent could hardly have been expected to rely upon representations made by adverse counsel in this correspondence, the sole purpose of which was posturing in pre-suit negotiations. However, Respondent argues that this letter placed Appellant on notice of a claim against Respondent.

In their motion, Respondent states:

“In January 2008, Members of the Plaintiffs’ class were put on actual notice that the HOA failed to file the Water Intrusion lawsuit within the statute of limitations and were advised that they may have a negligence suit against the HOA” (Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment, p. 8) (**R. p. 99**).

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