THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001100
Case No. 2015-CP-10-0020

RECEIVED
NOV 25 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Steven M. Bernard and Deborah J. Bernard, On Behalf of
Themselves and all others Similarly Situated,

Appellants,

v.

3 Chisolm Street Homeowners, Association, Inc.,.....

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Andrew F. Lindemann
LINDEMANN, DAVIS & HUGHES, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

M. Dawes Cooke, Jr.
Jeffrey M. Bogdan
BARNWELL WHALEY PATTERSON
& HELMS, LLC
288 Meeting Street, Suite 200

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

Craven to toll the accrual date in this case fails on both procedural and substantive bases.

The trial court rejected the *Stokes-Craven* accrual test for three separate and distinct reasons. First, the *Stokes-Craven* accrual rule was raised to the trial court for the first time in the Appellants' Rule 59(e) motion and thus was not timely or properly raised. Second, the *Stokes-Craven* accrual rule applies only in the context of legal malpractice actions and has not been extended to other types of negligence cases. And third, even if the *Stokes-Craven* accrual rule could be extended beyond the realm of legal malpractice cases, it would still have no applicability to the case at bar.

The Appellants have appealed only two of the three rulings. The Appellants have not appealed the trial court's ruling that the *Stokes-Craven* accrual rule was not timely raised. As the trial court determined, "the accrual rule in the *Stokes-Craven* case was never cited to nor argued to this Court by the Plaintiffs prior to the filing of their Rule 59(e) motion." (Order II, p. 2). *See, Stevens & Wilkinson of South Carolina, Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014) ("a party cannot use a Rule 59(e) motion to advance an issue the party could have raised to the circuit court prior to judgment, but did not"). The Appellants do not dispute that ruling on appeal, and thus it constitutes the law of the case. *See, Atlantic Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323,

730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) (“an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case”). Similarly, the two-issue rule is implicated as an additional basis for affirmance.³

Nonetheless, on the merits as well, the trial court was correct in rejecting the *Stokes-Craven* accrual rule in the context of this litigation. As indicated, *Stokes-Craven* is a legal malpractice case, and the accrual rule as announced in that case has never been extended to other types of causes of action. In fact, the Supreme Court specifically recognized that “the case that we address today is a legal malpractice cause of action that is predicated on an injury or damage caused by the failure of an underlying suit due to an attorney’s alleged malpractice.” *Stokes-Craven*, 787 S.E.2d at 494. The Supreme Court referred to “that particular scenario” and pointed out that “there can be no legal malpractice cause of action without an adverse verdict, judgment, or ruling.” *Id.* The present case as brought against the HOA is not a legal malpractice action. The Appellants are suing the HOA, not any attorneys. The alleged negligence was committed by the directors

³ In applying the “two-issue” rule, the Supreme Court has explained that “where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.” *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010). Similarly, in *Folkens v. Hunt*, 290 S.C. 194, 348 S.E.2d 839 (Ct. App. 1986), this Court held that “[a]n alternative ruling of a lower court that is not excepted to constitutes a basis for affirming the lower court and is not reviewable on appeal.” 348 S.E.2d at 845.

of the HOA Board, not by any attorneys. Thus, as the trial court correctly ruled, the accrual rule in *Stokes-Craven* has no applicability to the present case.

Additionally, in its recent decision in *Personal Care, Inc. v. Theos*, ___ S.C. ___, 825 S.E.2d 281 (Ct. App. 2019), this Court ruled -- in a legal malpractice action -- that the *Stokes-Craven* accrual rule does not apply where the cause of action is not predicated on an adverse judgment. This Court explained: “We do not believe that the *Stokes-Craven* decision eliminated the discovery rule in favor of a separate bright-line rule that all legal malpractice claims accrue on the date an adverse judgment is entered against the client.” 825 S.E.2d at 286. Instead, this Court determined that the client’s cause of action was predicated on an allegedly defamatory letter written by the lawyer being sued. Thus, as the trial court correctly ruled, even if the *Stokes-Craven* accrual rule could be extended beyond the realm of legal malpractice cases, it would still have no applicability to the case at bar. In this case, as in *Personal Care*, the Appellants’ claim against the HOA is not predicated on an adverse judgment. In fact, the Appellants do not allege as a basis for their Amended Complaint that the HOA was negligent in failing to timely file the Water Intrusion Lawsuit, which is the lawsuit that proceeded through an appeal to the Court of Appeals. Instead, as the trial court described in its Order, the Appellants allege in their Amended Complaint that the HOA “was negligent in failing to follow the Glick Report’s advice to pursue additional forensic testing,

which resulted in the HOA's failure to uncover the foundation defects until 2014, which resulted in the Foundation Defects Lawsuit being filed after the statute of limitations expired." (Order I, p. 5). As the trial court correctly ruled, that alleged negligent act was discovered or reasonably should have been discovered more than three years prior to the filing of this lawsuit on January 22, 2015.

To reiterate, in an attempt to claim the benefit of the *Stokes-Craven* accrual rule, the Appellants confuse and conflate the two lawsuits. In essence, they treat the Water Intrusion Lawsuit and the Foundation Defects Lawsuit interchangeably or as the same. It was the Water Intrusion Lawsuit that was dismissed by Judge Young on statute of limitation grounds and was appealed to this Court, thereby resulting in an affirmance on March 26, 2014. In contrast, the Foundation Defects Lawsuit was never subject to an appeal. That lawsuit was voluntarily settled, and there was never an adjudication of a statute of limitations defense. There was no "adverse judgment" in that litigation that tolled any statute of limitations.

In their opening brief, the Appellants erroneously suggest that the present lawsuit against the HOA is based on the HOA failing to timely file the Water Intrusion Lawsuit. That is not correct. To reiterate, in its Order, the trial court described the Appellants' claims as follows: "the Plaintiffs here allege one claim against the HOA: that it was negligent in failing to follow the Glick Report's advice to pursue additional forensic testing, which resulted in the HOA's failure to

uncover the foundation defects until 2014, which resulted in the Foundation Defects Lawsuit being filed after the statute of limitations expired.” (Order I, p. 5). That description comports with the Appellants’ return to the motion for summary judgment, where the Appellants write: “Plaintiff filed the present action in January 2015 asserting Breach of Duty/Negligence and Gross Negligence for failing to file suit against the renovators within the applicable statute of limitations and the resulting [d]amages to Plaintiffs in having to bear the costs of making necessary repairs to the condominium foundations.” (Return, p. 3). Similarly, in the same filing, the Appellants agreed that “the crux of the Plaintiffs’ theory of liability is that the HOA failed to file the Foundation Defects Litigation within the statute of limitations.” (Return, p. 5). This is also in accord with the class definition which includes only the owners of the condominium units from January 1, 2015 to present who were “subject to the 2015 lump sum payment to make necessary repairs and those subject to the increased regime fees to make necessary repairs.” (Class Certification Order, p. 3). Finally, in their opening brief, the Appellants write: “It is undisputed that the foundation of the condominium buildings is what needed to be repaired.” *See*, Appellants’ Opening Brief, p. 24. Thus, there is no attempt in this litigation to recover for damages claimed in the Water Intrusion Lawsuit. This litigation is designed solely to collect damages that were sought in the Foundation Defects Lawsuit. Yet, the Foundation Defects Lawsuit was never

adjudicated, never dismissed as untimely, and never appealed. Contrary to the Appellants' new contention on appeal, this action was not about the HOA failing to timely bring the Water Intrusion Lawsuit. *See, Gurganious v. City of Beaufort*, 317 S.C. 481, 454 S.E.2d 912, 916 (Ct. App. 1995) (a litigant is prohibited from "chang[ing] his theory on appeal"). Accordingly, even if the *Stokes-Craven* accrual rule is expanded to apply in the non-legal malpractice context, it has no applicability to this case. The Appellants did not have to wait and were not waiting on the final adjudication of an adverse judgment to commence this action against the HOA over the timeliness of the Foundation Defects Lawsuit.⁴

III. The trial court correctly ruled that the Appellants and class members knew or reasonably should have known that an assessment would likely be levied against the homeowners to pay for the repairs if the Foundation Defects Lawsuit was untimely filed.

The Appellants further contend that the trial court erred in ruling that the Appellants and class members knew or reasonably should have known that an assessment would likely be levied against the homeowners to pay for the repairs if

⁴ Nonetheless, it is illogical to conclude, as the Appellants seem to suggest, that any negligence action predicated on the expiration of the statute of limitations does not accrue until the plaintiff files that underlying action and obtains a dismissal of that action as being untimely. If that were the case, then there would effectively be no statute of limitations for such a negligence action. A plaintiff could arguably bring the underlying action ten or even twenty years after the statute of limitations expired and still claim that the ensuing negligence action did not "accrue" until an adverse ruling was entered in the underlying action as time-barred.

the Foundation Defects Lawsuit was untimely filed. As discussed at length above, the discovery rule is an objective test. The application of the discovery rule does not turn on actual knowledge but rather what is reasonably known or should be known by an objectively reasonable person, that is, a person of common knowledge and experience. *See, Young v. South Carolina Department of Corrections*, 333 S.C. 714, 511 S.E.2d 413, 416 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding that under the discovery rule, whether the particular plaintiff actually knew he had a claim is not the test; rather, courts must objectively determine whether the circumstances of the case would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded, or that some claim against another party might exist).

Here, the trial court recognized that an objectively reasonable person in the position of the Appellants and class members should know that (1) repairs would need to be made, (2) the repairs would need to be paid for, and (3) if a recovery cannot be made from third parties because the construction defect litigation was not timely filed, then there would likely be an assessment levied to pay for the repairs. That ruling by the trial court is sound and did require any further evidentiary basis. Again, the Appellants treat the discovery rule as a subjective test which requires proof of actual knowledge, which it does not.

IV. The trial court was correct in concluding that the Appellants' claim against the HOA accrued more than three years prior to the filing of this lawsuit.

The Appellants next argue that there was no “justiciable controversy” prior to January 21, 2015, which is the date that the Appellants learned of the special assessment to be levied by the HOA to pay for the repairs to the foundation defects. The Appellants’ argument is fairly convoluted and circular, but it appears that they are contending that the accrual date for their negligence claim against the HOA should be deemed January 21, 2015. The trial court was correct in rejecting that argument.

“The question of when a cause of action arises or accrues is a question of law.” *Menezes v. W.L. Ross & Co., LLC*, 403 S.C. 522, 744 S.E.2d178, 182 (2013). In *Bergstrom v. Palmetto Health Alliance*, 358 S.C. 388, 596 S.E.2d 42 (2004), the Supreme Court held that “[a] cause of action accrues at the moment when the plaintiff has a legal right to sue on it. The law presumes at least nominal damages at that point. The fact that substantial damages did not occur until later is immaterial to determining when the action accrued or arose.” 596 S.E.2d at 46. Similarly, in *Grooms v. Medical Society of South Carolina*, 298 S.C. 399, 380 S.E.2d 855 Ct. App. 1989), this Court ruled that “[a] cause of action or claim for damages accrues the moment the defendant breaches a duty owed to the plaintiff.” 380 S.E.2d at 857. “The fact that an injured party may not comprehend the full

extent of the damage is immaterial.” *Grillo v. Speedrite Products, Inc.*, 340 S.C. 498, 532 S.E.2d 1, 3 (Ct. App. 2000). This Court has further recognized that “South Carolina’s statute of limitations requires very little to start the clock.” *Maher v. Tietex Corp.*, 321 S.C. 371, 500 S.E.2d 204, 208 (Ct. App. 1998). In fact, “in a negligence action, the statute of limitations accrues at the time of the negligence, or when facts or circumstances would put a person of common knowledge on notice that he might have a claim against another party.” *Kreutner v. David*, 320 S.C. 283, 465 S.E.2d 88, 90 (1995).

As the trial court noted, the Appellants’ claimed accrual date of January 21, 2015, is not even consistent with the Appellants’ own actions in this litigation. The Appellants filed the Complaint against the HOA on January 2, 2015, which was almost three weeks prior to the date now claimed as the accrual date.⁵ If that were true, the Appellants’ negligence claim had not accrued when suit was filed and the Appellants would be admitting that there was no “justiciable controversy” when they filed this action. In short, the current argument is suspect from the outset, and quite frankly, the Appellants should be estopped from taking inconsistent positions.

⁵ In the Complaint filed January 2, 2015, the Appellants pled as follows: “Plaintiffs have suffered damages proximately caused by the Defendant’s negligent, grossly negligent, reckless, unconscionable, and incompetent conduct and Defendant’s lack of good faith.” *See*, Complaint, ¶ 69. (R. ____). Thus, there was an affirmative allegation that the Appellants had been damaged by that date.

Nonetheless, as the trial court also correctly ruled, the Appellants did not need to wait for its damages to be fully developed for the accrual of their negligence cause of action. The statute of limitations was triggered when the Appellants had notice that there might be a claim against another party and that there is a legal right to sue on it. As the previously cited case law demonstrates, a determination of damages need not be developed before a cause of action accrues. Instead, an injured party has the legal right to file suit before all of its damages occurred or are discovered. See, *Grooms*, 380 S.E.2d at 857. In effect, the Appellants were injured or harmed by the loss of their claim for foundation defects, and that loss started the clock on the statute of limitations.

In sum, the trial court was correct in ruling that “Plaintiffs knew that they had suffered some damage to their claims against the renovators as soon as they were aware that the HOA might have missed the statute of limitations” which “undeniably occurred more than three years before Plaintiffs filed this suit.” (Order I, p. 10). The date that the special assessment was levied to pay for the foundation defects does not change that ultimate accrual date.

V. The trial court was correct in finding that the application of Section 15-3-530(5) as the statute of limitations was properly raised and before the court for adjudication.

As a procedural issue, the Appellants argue that the trial court committed

reversible error in analyzing the statute of limitations defense under Section 15-3-530(5). They contend that issue was “not properly before” the trial court because the HOA initially argued that Section 33-31-830(f) supplied the applicable statute of limitations rather than Section 15-3-530(5). They complain that the HOA did not raise Section 15-3-530(5) as a basis for dismissal until the filing of its reply memorandum.

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